NO. 48029-8-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

K.C. and L.M.,

Respondents,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON and DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL AND HEALTH SERVICES,

Defendants,

GOOD SAMARITAN HOSPITAL, PATRICK SHEEHY, PhD, and LINDA WILLIAMS, M.S.W.,

Appellants,

and

DONNA JOHNSON,

Defendant.

APPELLANTS GOOD SAMARITAN HOSPITAL, PATRICK SHEEHY, PHD AND LINDA WILLIAMS' OPENING BRIEF

Timothy L. Ashcraft, WSBA #26196 Fain Anderson VanDerhoef Rosendahl O'Halloran Spillane, PLLC Attorney for Appellants 1301 "A" Street, Suite 900 Tacoma, WA 98402 (253) 328-7800 tim@favros.com

Ś

I. INTRODUCTION

In this medical negligence case, K.C. and L.M., two adult women, allege that defendants Good Samaritan Hospital, Patrick Sheehy, Ph.D. and Linda Williams, M.S.W. (collectively "GSH") are responsible for the sexual abuse they suffered as children at the hands of their stepfather, Walter Carl Johnson, who resided with them and their mother, defendant Donna Melby Johnson (Melby), from 1981 to 1991. Specifically, they allege that GSH counselor Patrick Sheehy, who provided counseling to Johnson, and GSH social worker Linda Williams, who co-signed a letter drafted by Sheehy, negligently recommended to Johnson's parole officer in 1981 that Johnson could live in Melby's home with K.C. and L.M.

In 2013, K.C. and L.M. initially sued only the State of Washington and DSHS (the State), alleging that the State failed to prevent their abuse by failing to properly monitor Johnson, who was under state supervision due to an indecent liberties conviction involving his biological daughter. The State moved for summary judgment in August 2014, arguing, among other things, that because most of the relevant documents were unavailable (due to the passage of time) and important witnesses were deceased, there was no way for K.C. and L.M. to prove: (1) negligence by the State; or (2) legal and/or factual causation. The State also argued that K.C.'s claims were barred by the statute of limitation. The trial court,

- 1 -

Judge Stolz, granted the State's summary judgment motion, holding that because of faded memories and missing records there was no way to determine what really happened without resorting to speculation. Judge Stolz also based the summary judgment dismissal of K.C.'s claims on statute of limitations grounds.

After their claims against the State were dismissed, K.C. and L.M amended their Complaint in November 2014 to name Good Samaritan Hospital, Sheehy, and Williams as defendants.¹ In two separate motions, GSH moved for summary judgment on numerous grounds, including lack of evidence, lack of legal and factual causation, laches, collateral estoppel and statute of limitations. The trial court, Judge Hogan, denied those motions, but granted K.C. and L.M.'s summary judgment motion, striking the statute of limitations affirmative defense.

GSH moved for discretionary review based on Judge Hogan's rulings on both Good Samaritan's and K.C. and L.M.'s summary judgment motions. Court Commissioner Bearse granted discretionary review on the following issues:

- 1. Whether collateral estoppel bars K.C.'s claims;
- 2. Whether some or all of K.C. or L.M.'s claims are barred by the statute of limitations; and

¹ The mother, Melby, had already been made a defendant on October 10, 2014. CP 919.

3. Whether the trial court erred in dismissing GSH's statute of limitations affirmative defense.

The trial court erred in not barring K.C.'s claims based on collateral estoppel and not dismissing L.M.'s claims based on statute of limitations. The court also erred in dismissing GSH's affirmative defense of statute of limitations. This court should reverse the trial court and remand for entry of judgment in favor of GSH.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Based on the partial grant of review by Commissioner Bearse, GSH makes the following assignments of error:

- 1. The trial court erred in denying GSH's motion for summary judgment dismissal of K.C.'s claims based on collateral estoppel.
- The trial court erred in denying GSH's motion for summary judgment dismissal of L.M.'s claims based on statute of limitations.
- 3. The trial erred in granting K.C. and L.M.'s motion for partial summary judgment dismissal of GSH's affirmative defense of statute of limitations.

III. ISSUES RELATED TO THE ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Did the trial court err in denying summary judgment dismissal

of K.C.'s claims based on collateral estoppel when the court had previously dismissed K.C.'s claims against the State based on statute of limitations under identical facts and all of the elements of collateral estoppel were met?

- 2. Did the trial court err in denying summary judgment dismissal of L.M.'s claims based on statute of limitations when L.M.'s own medical records show that she connected her injuries to the abuse outside of the statute of limitations period?
- 3. Did the trial court err in granting summary judgment dismissal of GSH's statute of limitations affirmative defense when the trial court admitted that it did not know when the causes of action accrued?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. <u>Underlying Substantive Facts</u>.

Many details of the underlying events, occurring as much as 35 years ago, are unknown because of the lack of documents that remain. Of the records that do exist, most are from the Pierce County criminal court file in *State of Washington v. Walter Carl Johnson*, Pierce County Cause No. 57120.

- 4 -

1. In 1980, Johnson pled guilty to indecent liberties with his biological daughter and received a deferred sentence with required counseling and state supervision.

In July 1980, Walter Carl Johnson pled guilty to indecent liberties for molesting his biological daughter, Jackie, and received a deferred sentence. CP 1703, 1715. As part of his sentence, he was required to attend counseling. CP 1715. Johnson initially received counseling from psychologist H.R. Nichols Ph.D., but left in January 1981 and began treatment at Good Samaritan Mental Health Center with counselor Sheehy. During that time, Johnson also began a relationship with Melby, who was aware of his conviction for indecent liberties. CP 1730.

2. There are few existing documents or known facts related to Johnson's treatment at GSH.

Because the treatment at issue occurred over 30 years ago, GSH has not retained any of the medical records or other evidence of his treatment. CP 1685. The only evidence related to Johnson's treatment at GSH is an August 10, 1981 letter in Mr. Johnson's criminal file addressed to his parole officer, Ken Davis, that Sheehy drafted and Williams co-signed. CP 1735-36.

In that letter, Sheehy wrote that he had sent Johnson to undergo psychological testing by psychologist Sheldon Kleine, Ph.D. and a psychological evaluation by psychiatrist James Lurie, M.D. *Id.* Sheehy summarized the results of Kleine's and Lurie's testing and evaluation as showing that Johnson did not suffer from sexual psychopathology, as his testing profile did not match that of a sex offender. *Id.* Sheehy stated in the letter that, based on his joint therapy sessions with Johnson and Melby and Lurie's psychological evaluation of Johnson, both he and Lurie felt that Johnson's relationship with Melby was a sincere attempt to reestablish a normal family life and start over again, and noted that Melby and Johnson intended to marry. *Id.*

Sheehy recommended that Johnson meet monthly with his probation officer to discuss situational problems as they arise. He also recommended that the court monitor the situation by periodically interviewing Melby concerning her relationship with Johnson and Johnson's relationship with her children. *Id.* Sheehy stated that with these recommendations in place, he felt it would be appropriate for Johnson to make his residence with Melby. *Id.*

Beyond Sheehy's single letter, there is no evidence of Johnson's treatment at GSH. There is no record of Lurie's psychological evaluation of Johnson, or of Kleine's psychological testing. CP 1685. Lurie died in September 2014, and Kleine died in 2010. There also is no record of Sheehy's counseling sessions with Johnson and/or Melby, and neither Sheehy nor Williams has any recollection of Johnson, his treatment, or the August 10, 1981 letter. CP 1393-97.

3. Little is known of what occurred with the court or the monitoring of Johnson after the August 1981 letter.

On October 1, 1981, more than two months after the Sheehy letter, Parole Officer Davis filed a report with the court (Judge E. Albert

- 6 -

Morrison), as to whether Johnson should be allowed to live with Melby and her young children. CP 1723-24. The report references conflicting opinions on that subject. On the one hand was the view of psychologist Nichols who, in January 1981, sent a letter to parole officer Susan Cole advising against such living arrangements. CP 1721-22. On the other hand was the competing view of Sheehy, Kleine and Lurie that, based on Johnson's passing of various psychological tests, there was nothing to indicate that he should be kept out of the home, subject to certain conditions. CP 1723-24.

There is no evidence of how Judge Morrison ruled at the hearing on this issue or the basis for that ruling, and no evidence of what other evidence was before the court. Melby has no recollection of that hearing. CP 1231. Johnson married Melby on November 23, 1981. CP 1266. There is little or no evidence as to what, if any, continued monitoring of Johnson either the parole officer or the court conducted in light of the recommendations contained in Sheehy's letter.

K.C. and L.M.'s biological father, Delbert Melby, learned of Johnson's indecent liberties charge and enlisted the assistance of United States Senator Max Baucus to gain information about Johnson. According to Mr. Melby, on January 10, 1984, Laurie Merta of the Community Corrections Office drafted a letter to the office of Senator Baucus, United

- 7 -

States Senator for Montana regarding Johnson.² CP 1883-84. Merta wrote that, on July 23, 1980, Johnson was convicted of indecent liberties and, on September 25, 1980, was granted a five-year deferred probation sentence by Judge Morrison. *Id.* As part of his probation conditions, Johnson was ordered to continue in counseling. *Id.* Merta also wrote that Johnson was permitted to marry Melby and establish a residence with the Melby children, and commented that "[i]t should be noted that both the superior and juvenile court, as well as the Child Protective Services in this area were involved in this decision." *Id.* Merta further wrote that "[a]s a further testament to Mr. Johnson's successful treatment, he was recently awarded custody of his 14-year-old daughter (Jackie)³ under the supervision of [DSHS]." *Id.* Merta noted that "[p]resently all the reports from the various agencies are positive and most notable with Mr. Johnson's total cooperation." *Id.*

In 1985, DOC corrections officers filed a Request for Dismissal of Johnson's indecent liberties charge. CP 1726-27. According to that request, Johnson had been vigorously investigated after K.C. and L.M.'s biological father made allegations that Johnson had had sexual contact with K.C. and L.M. *Id.* According to the request, Johnson and the family

² Merta was writing in response to a letter from Senator Baucus's staffer, Mark Smith, who had requested information regarding Johnson for Delbert Melby.

³ Jackie was the daughter with whom Johnson had pled guilty to indecent liberties.

"underwent a vigorous investigation by Children's Protective Services as well as the juvenile courts and probation office, and it was determined the allegations were untrue."⁴ *Id*. The request included an assertion that the family had been in counseling and were being monitored. *Id*. The court granted the request for dismissal. *Id*.

In February 1986, Johnson's biological daughter Jackie disclosed to CPS that Johnson had been waking her up by kissing her stomach and thighs. CP 1749. Johnson's daughter was removed from the home. See CP 1754, 56. Johnson disclosed to the court that he was living with K.C. (age 7) and L.M. (age 9) and, although the court ordered Johnson and his biological daughter to participate in counseling, the court did not order that K.C. or L.M. be removed from the home. See CP 1756.

On December 16, 1986, the Juvenile Court ordered Johnson to undergo psychosexual evaluation. CP 1754. There is no indication as to where the psychosexual evaluation was to be performed, or what the results of the evaluation were.

Melby testified in her deposition that she became aware of Johnson sexually abusing her daughters in 1986 or 1987. CP 1732. Melby asked Johnson to leave the house, but he only left for about a week. *Id.* Melby and Johnson divorced in 1991. CP 1785-87; 1789-90. Even after the

⁴ None of the documents reflecting that investigation still exist.

divorce, Melby allowed Johnson to have unsupervised contact with L.M.

while he transported L.M. to medical appointments. CP 1793-94.

B. <u>Facts Related to L.M.'s Claims Regarding Statute Of</u> <u>Limitations</u>.

On January 16, 2015, GSH propounded discovery requests to

plaintiff L.M. Among the responses received from plaintiff L.M. was the

following:

INTERROGATORY NO. 10: Describe in detail all injuries (physical and mental) which you claim to have suffered as a result of the alleged wrongful acts of the defendant.

ANSWER: ***

I am not sure of the exact physical injuries that were inflicted upon me as a child, I do remember multiple issues with my genital area that required warm baths and creams to soothe or ease discomfort and pain. Multiple complaints of headaches, nausea, vomiting, asthma attacks, pain, etc.

As for any mental issues, this has affected my life for as long as I can remember. This has affected my life daily in my professional and personal practices and continues to do so.

CP 1366.

In response to discovery, plaintiffs also produced L.M.'s medical records from Ana Casillas, MFT at PsyCare, Inc. According to L.M.'s Initial Evaluation and Development of Treatment Goals dated December 30, 2010, L.M. was experiencing poor sleep due to anxiety from childhood sexual abuse, anxiety with night time triggers, and a history of overeating to cope with abuse. CP 1472-74. Ms. Casillas noted that L.M. had symptoms of sadness, loss, grief, and PTSD due to an extensive history of childhood abuse. CP 1475.

L.M. received individual psychotherapy throughout 2011, during which her childhood sexual abuse and related conditions were constantly discussed. On February 17, 2011, the chart indicates that L.M. had difficulty trusting others due to extensive childhood abuse. CP 1481. On April 25, 2011, the major issues discussed were "1. Fears of losing control (stemming from childhood trauma), 2. Pain & hurt processed in session." CP 1484.

On June 20, 2011, L.M. described having ongoing sleep disturbances due to sexual abuse in childhood. CP 1489. On July 14, 2011, L.M. saw increased connections between the abuse of her past and her depression and anxiety symptoms. CP 1492. Major issues discussed during that therapy session included processing triggers from her abusive past and identifying several ways traumas affect her current situations and relationships. *Id.* The intervention included processing her hurt, pain, fears due to PTSD and ways to cope. *Id.* On July 28, 2011, L.M.'s chart reveals that L.M.'s history of abuse was "leading to anxieties & fears at night" with sleep disturbances ongoing. CP 1493. On August 11, 2011, Ms. Casillas noted that L.M.'s PTSD symptoms were increasing, and were "triggered a lot," mostly at night. CP 1494. On September 9, 2011, Ms. Casillas wrote that major issues discussed included history of abuse, and PTSD issues in the way of L.M.'s relationship with her spouse (lacking trust and openness). CP 1496. On September 12, 2011, Ms. Casillas and L.M. discussed poor boundaries as a result of child sexual abuse. CP 1497. Finally, on November 14, 2011, her chart reveals that L.M. had insecurity about self-value and was beating herself up, stemming from her abuse. CP 1501.

C. <u>The Summary Judgment Motions</u>.

In September 2014, before Good Samaritan, Sheehy, and Williams were sued by K.C. and L.M, the State moved for summary judgment, arguing in part that due to the passage of time, there was insufficient evidence to prove negligence and causation without resorting to speculation. CP 16-44. The State also moved for summary judgment as to K.C. based on statute of limitations. CP 29-32.

The Court granted the summary judgment motion on both bases.

The Court: Yeah, but, you know, again, you don't know what [Judge] Morrison chose to do. There's no evidence because, presumably, if it was directed to his attention, one would hope he did something; but there's no evidence to show that he did or did not do anything, and we can't basically speculate now as to what Judge Morrison would have done.

* * *

- 12 -

The Court: And, unfortunately, your expert witness in this case, what they're saying is based on a sketchy record and is speculation about what should have happened 30 years ago.

CP 968, 973; see also, CP 969. The court also ruled that the speculative nature of the case was "not the only basis" for granting summary judgment as "it's outside the statute of limitations for at least one of them, K.C." CP 973.

Following the State's dismissal, plaintiffs added the GSH defendants on November 19, 2014. CP 1006-14. On June 19, 2015, GSH moved for summary judgment. Because of an earlier trial court ruling that plaintiffs were entitled to additional discovery before a motion could be brought on factual causation, GSH's first summary judgment motion was limited to: (1) lack of legal causation; (2) statute of limitations; (3) collateral estoppel (related to statute of limitations) and (4) laches. CP 1399-1423. K.C. and L.M. also moved for summary judgment, seeking to strike the statute of limitations affirmative defense. CP 1022-38.

The trial court, Judge Hogan denied GSH's motion, ruling that neither legal causation nor the statute of limitations barred K.C. and L.M.'s claims. 7/10/15 RP 31-32, CP 1628-29. Regarding collateral estoppel, Judge Hogan ruled that it did not apply because the record she had before her was different than the record before Judge Stolz, as K.C. and L.M were now claiming additional injuries. 7/10/15 RP 31; CP 1628. With respect to the statute of limitations argument, Judge Hogan granted K.C. and L.M.'s motion for summary judgment dismissal of the statute of limitations affirmative defense, despite the fact that she admittedly did not know when the causes of action accrued. 7/10/15 RP 32-37; CP 1629-34. GSH later brought a second summary judgment motion, based on standard of care, lack of factual causation and collateral estoppel (related to the State being dismissed because the case was speculative). CP 1656-1683. Judge Hogan also denied that motion. CP 1984-86.

V. ARGUMENT

A. <u>Standard of Review</u>.

"Whether collateral estoppel applies to bar relitigation of an issue is reviewed de novo." *Christensen v. Grant Cty. Hosp.*, 152 Wn.2d 299, 305, 96 P.3d 957, 960 (2004). Likewise, the standard of review in reviewing a summary judgment order is also de novo. *Burton v. Twin Commander Aircraft, LLC*, 171 Wn.2d 204, 212, 254 P.3d 778 (2011).

B. All of K.C.'s Claims are Barred by Collateral Estoppel.

Under the doctrine of collateral estoppel, a party is estopped from relitigating an issue when: (1) the issue decided in a prior adjudication was identical with the one presented in the action in question; (2) there was a final judgment on the merits in the prior adjudication; (3) the party against whom the plea is asserted was a party or in privity with a party to the prior

- 14 -

adjudication; and (4) the application of the doctrine will not work an injustice on the party against whom the doctrine of collateral estoppel is applied. *Nielson v. Spanaway Gen. Med. Clinic, Inc.*, 85 Wn. App. 249, 253, 931 P.2d 931 (1997); *see also, Gausvik v. Abbey*, 126 Wn. App. 868, 884-85, 107 P.3d 98 (2005).

Here, the trial court dismissed all of the claims K.C. brought against the State on statute of limitations grounds. All of the elements of collateral estoppel are met in this case and therefore dismissal of K.C.'s claims against GSH is mandated.

First, the issue in the State's summary judgment motion was, as it is here, whether K.C.'s claims arising out of the abuse from Walter Carl Johnson were time barred. CP 29-32. A comparison of the original complaint (against the State only), CP 2-5, with the second amended complaint against GSH, CP 1008-1010, shows the factual basis for the lawsuit is the same. As such, the first element of collateral estoppel is satisfied.

The other elements of collateral estoppel are also satisfied. As to the second element, there was a final judgment as summary judgment constitutes a final judgment on the merits. *Brownfield v. City of Yakima*, 178 Wn. App. 850, 870, 316 P.3d 520, 531 (2013). As to the third element, privity, K.C. was a party when the State brought its summary

- 15 -

judgment motion and therefore she is bound by that decision. Lastly, as to the fourth element, whether collateral estoppel will work an injustice, the application of the doctrine of collateral estoppel does not work an injustice where a plaintiff "had an unencumbered, full and fair opportunity to litigate his claims in a neutral forum." *Nielson*, 85 Wn. App. at 255. Here, plaintiff had that opportunity.

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