#### I. **INTRODUCTION**

Plaintiffs K.C. and L.M. submit this memorandum as their responsive brief to the pending appeal. This is a simple claim: the Good Sam therapists are being sued for recommending that a newly convicted child sex offender, Walter Johnson, have unsupervised access to little girls, K.C. The underlying basis for the Good Sam therapists' and L.M. recommendation is well documented: that 'testicular cancer" and marital "ridicule" were acceptable justifications for Walter Johnson having committed incest with his pre-pubescent daughters. According to Dr. Sheehy and Ms. Williams, if Mr. Johnson just stayed off the alcohol and kept some distance from his ex-wife's ridiculing ways, there was no danger to other little girls. Another treating therapist from the relevant timeframe, H.R. Nichols, PhD, has opined that this recommendation was recklessly negligent. Dr. Nichols' warnings occurred on January 20, 1981:

I am greatly concerned, however, that Mr. Johnson may molest the little girls who are daughters of his woman friend. He denies desires for bythe also dentes his accountability with his own daughters. I therefore highly recommend the following: them

- that if he is allowed to remain on probation and to seek other counseling, that a detailed account of Mr. Johnson's behavior problems be made available to the therapist;
   that he move his trailer off his woman friend's property and that careful monitoring of this relationship is undertaken including her assistance in his treatment;
   that in the basis of the basis of the second friend;
   that he spend no overnight visits with a woman with children unless approved by probation service and his therapist.

1

<sup>1</sup> CP 1157-70

Eight (8) months later, on August 10, 1981, Dr. Sheehy and Ms. Williams recommended that Walter Johnson should reside with pre-pubescent girls. As a result, when combined with the negligence of K.C. and L.M.'s mother, Donna Johnson, these women were molested throughout their childhoods. This is case upon which a jury is likely to find that the defense committed gross negligence as to the safety of the little girls that were violated. The trial court did not commit any error when dismissing the statute of limitations defense. This matter should be remanded for further proceedings on the merits.

#### II. BACKGROUND

This case arises out of the preventable childhood sexual abuse of K.C. and L.M. The evidence proves that K.C. and L.M. were routinely molested by a known sex offender, Walter "Carl" Johnson, and his son, Kenny Johnson, for a period spanning approximately fifteen years, between 1981 and 1995.<sup>2</sup> In the early 1980s, Walter Johnson was introduced into the lives of K.C. and L.M. by way of their mother, Donna Johnson.<sup>3</sup> K.C. and L.M. were approximately ages 4 and 5 at the time. And it must be noted that when a child herself, Donna Johnson had already been a molestation victim of Walter Johnson -- a man many years

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> CP 1039-88, 1550-54 & CP 1089-1156, 1457-1549 <sup>3</sup> *Id*.

her senior.<sup>4</sup> For this family of five children and an unemployed mother, Carl appeared a godsend. "He took us in and cared for us." He was a "big man shaped like triangle," who had "huge shoulders, a little waist, greenblue eyes, red hair and a beard." Carl weighed 335 pounds and worked as a truck and bus driver.

As to the material facts, the circumstances giving rise to this case are clear and relatively uncontroverted. On March 26, 1980, Walter Johnson was charged, and later on July 23, 1980 convicted, of molesting his naturally born daughters.<sup>5</sup> The charges included raping Jacqueline Johnson at the prepubescent age of eleven.<sup>6</sup> Walter Johnson's corresponding sentence, dated September 25, 1980, included five (5) years probation, successful sex offender treatment, and to following all "instructions per the parole officer."<sup>7</sup> The conviction required that Walter Johnson remain on probation until September 25, 1985.<sup>8</sup>

Walter Johnson first underwent post-conviction court mandated offender therapy with a gentleman named H.R. Nichols, Ph.D.<sup>9</sup> According to Dr. Nichols, as documented in correspondence to the probation officer dated January 20, 1981, Walter Johnson's attempt at

- <sup>4</sup> *Id.* <sup>5</sup> CP 492-835 <sup>6</sup> *Id.*
- <sup>7</sup> Id.
- <sup>8</sup> Id.
- <sup>9</sup> Id.

counseling was a failure: "... he had not admitted to himself that he was actually accountable. He blamed his wife and his older daughter for his behavior ... What concerned me most was his negative attitude about dealing with the problem with me."<sup>10</sup> Dr. Nichols also reported: "His January 5, 1981 sessions (his last was the most difficult thus far). He reported to me that he had been alone with his woman friend's two daughters [K.C. and L.M.] while she entered her son in school. I told him this was a violation of treatment conditions and tried to learn why he allowed this to happen. He became outraged and justified it by telling me that it was only for a short while in his car outside of the school."11

Walter Johnson subsequently sought "treatment" at the Good Samaritan Mental Health Center.<sup>12</sup> At Good Sam, the assigned clinicians engaged in "conjoined" counseling sessions with Walter Johnson and Donna Johnson.<sup>13</sup> It must be noted that Donna Johnson understood herself to have established a counseling relationship during the conjoined sessions with the Good Sam clinicians. During those sessions, the Good Sam clinicians negligently advised Ms. Johnson that Walter Johnson had miraculously been cured of his sex offending ways, and that it would be therapeutic to allow cohabitation with the small children, K.C. and L.M.

<sup>10</sup> Id. <sup>11</sup> Id. <sup>12</sup> Id. <sup>13</sup> Id.

In a pleading filed with this Court on October 13, 2014, Ms. Johnson asserted that "*I had relied upon the assurances that Mr. Johnson was safe to have around children and that belief was misguided*." Walter Johnson preyed upon K.C. and L.M. for the many years that followed.<sup>14</sup> Based upon the negligent advice that Good Sam provided to Ms. Johnson during the counseling sessions that occurred in 1981, K.C. and L.M. filed this lawsuit.

#### **III. ARGUMENT RE: STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS**

The Supreme Court has noted that the Legislature's purpose in enacting RCW 4.16.340 was to provide a broad avenue of redress for victims of childhood sexual abuse. *C.J.C. v. Corporation of the Catholic Bishop of Yakima*, 138 Wash.2d 699, 985 P.2d 262 (1999). "The three year statute of limitations on a claim arising from an act of childhood abuse does not begin to run at least until the victim discovers 'that the act caused the injury for which the claim is brought." *Miller v. Campbell*, 137 Wash. App. 762, 767, 155 P.3d 154 (2007), citing RCW 4.16.340(1)(c). "Legislative findings supporting this statutory discovery rule state the Legislature's intent 'that the earlier discovery of less serious injuries should not affect the statute of limitations for injuries that are discovered later." *Id.* "The special statute of limitations, RCW 4.16.340,

<sup>14</sup> Id.

indicates that it is not inconsistent for a victim to be aware for many years that he has been abused, yet not have knowledge of the potential tort claim against his abuser." *Id.* at 773. "Indeed, as our Legislature has found, childhood sexual abuse, by its very nature, may render the victim unable to understand or make the connection between the childhood abuse and the full extent of the resulting emotional harm until many years later." *Cloud v. Summers*, 98 Wash. App. 724, 735, 991 P.2d 1169 (1999).

The interpretive case law weighs in favor of preserving childhood sex abuse claims whenever possible. *See e.g. Hollmann v. Corcoran*, 89 Wash. App. 323, 949 P.2d 386 (1997). In *Hollmann*, the trial court dismissed a similar childhood sex abuse claim premised upon evidence presented by the defense demonstrating that the victim had received therapy related to the abuse and also had been diagnosed with PTSD, on appeal, the trial court was found to have committed reversible error for the dismissal. *Id.* When reversing the trial court for the improper dismissal, Division III noted that victim subjectively continued to claim that "he did not recognize the causal relationship between his present problems and [the abuser's] acts." *Id.* at 333. In relation to the PTSD diagnosis, the Court noted that while the counselor "made an initial diagnosis of PTSD as early as 1989, a jury could find [the victim] did not relate this diagnosis to [the perpetrator's] abuse." *Id.* at 334.

6

In Hollman, over three (3) years before the lawsuit was filed, the plaintiff Mr. Hollman had undergone two separate psychological evaluations and treatment with two treatment providers. *Id.* at 328-29. During the course of each evaluation and treatment, the Plaintiff disclosed he had been sexually molested by the defendant Mr. Corcoran. *Id.* Each provider then treated Mr. Hollman for the symptoms he exhibited. *Id.* Mr. Corcoran then brought the motion to dismiss based on statute of limitation. In reversing the trial court, this Court noted the distinct legislative policies applicable to childhood sex abuse claims:

The Legislature specifically stated its intent in its findings:

(1) Childhood sexual abuse is a pervasive problem that affects the safety and well-being of many of our citizens.

(2) Childhood sexual abuse is a traumatic experience for the victim causing long-lasting damage.

(3) The victim of childhood sexual abuse may repress the memory of the abuse or be unable to connect the abuse to any injury until after the statute of limitations has run.

(4) The victim of childhood sexual abuse may be unable to understand or make the connection between childhood sexual abuse and emotional harm or damage until many years after the abuse occurs.

(5) Even though victims may be aware of injuries related to the childhood sexual abuse, more serious injuries may be discovered many years later.

(6) The legislature enacted RCW 4.16.340 to clarify the application of the discovery rule to childhood sexual abuse cases. At that time the legislature intended to reverse the Washington supreme court decision in Tyson v. Tyson, 107 Wn.2d 72, 727 P.2d 226 (1986).

Id. at 333.

The higher courts held that legislative policies (4) and (5) are particularly applicable to the scenario where a child sex abuse victim fails to recognize the causal relationship between the victim's present problems and the sexually abusive acts. Therefore, even when a child sex abuse plaintiff discloses having been sexually abused for purposes of treating a mental illness, the disclosure and subsequent treatment in and of themselves, do not necessitate the conclusion that the plaintiff made the causal connection between the abuse and injury.

Another trial court made a similar error in dismissing a childhood sex abuse claim in *Korst v. McMahon*, 136 Wash. App. 202, 148 P.3d 1081 (2006). In *Korst*, Division II engaged in a discussion about RCW 4.16.340, specifically noting that there was no "reasonably should have discovered" portion of the law that applies to the victims bringing claims. *Id.* at 207. "In light of the Legislature's findings, the *Hollman* Court interpreted the plain language of RCW 4.16.340(1)(c) as not imposing a duty on the plaintiff to discovery her injuries in childhood sex abuse cases." *Id.* at 207-8. According to the *Korst* Court, the trial court erred in

8

that RCW 4.16.340 "does not begin running when the victim discovers an injury." *Id.* at 208. "The legislature specifically anticipated that victims may know they are suffering emotional harm or damage, but not be able to understand the connection between those symptoms and the abuse." *Id* (emphasis added).

Further, the Korst Court provided illumination to the high burden imposed upon a defending party in establishing, as a matter law, that a victim made the necessary subjective damages connections in their minds supportive of dismissal. In Korst, the defense cited to evidence in the form of "a letter that she wrote to her father" illustrating ongoing suffering stemming from childhood sexual abuse. Id. at 208. The Court noted that the "letter simply indicates that she resented her father for sexually abusing her, not that Korst understood the effects of the abuse." Id. at 209. Moreover, even though the victim had been diagnosed with PTSD, the Court cited approving to trial testimony from the diagnosing health care practitioner noting that "a person with no psychology background would 'simply not have the capacity to link these varied miscellaneous feelings to posttraumatic stress."" Id. at 210. Division II overruled the trial court finding that "[f]rom this evidence, the trial court could not reasonably infer that [the victim] already knew in 1995 that her father's sexual abuse caused her physical and emotional symptoms." Id. at 211.

According to the controlling case law, "victims of childhood sexual abuse know that they have been hurt, but RCW 4.16.340 makes it clear that a plaintiff's cause of action does not accrue until she knows that the sexual abuse **has caused her more serious injuries**." *Korst v*, 136 Wash. App. 202. To meet the heavy burden of getting a case dismissed, the defending party must show that the victims "discovered that the act caused the injury for which the claim is brought." *Id*, citing, RCW 4.16.340(c). In this instance, Good Sam failed to meet this burden with regard to either K.C. or L.M.

Judge Hogan did not err in the rulings on the motions for summary judgment regarding the statute of limitations. In accord with RCW 4.16.340, the parties are in relative agreement that Good Sam has the burden of proving, as a matter of law, that as of November 19, 2011, both K.C. and L.M. understood and connected all of their injuries to the childhood sexual abuse. In this regard, in order to have the summary judgment granted, Good Sam needed (but failed) to have submitted evidence from which a jury could only find one way. *See B.R. v. Horsely*, 186 Wash. App. 294, 345 P.3d 838 (2015) (holding that each distinct harm must be identified and evaluated); *Hollman*, 89 Wash. App. 323; *Korst*, 136 Wash. App. 202; *Carollo*, 157 Wash. App. 796. At the trial court level, Good Sam failed to submit evidence from which a jury could ever find that K.C. and L.M. connected and understood their qualitatively differing injuries prior to November 19, 2011, therefore, as in *Korst*, the statute of limitations defense was properly dismissed entirely.

#### <u>K.C.:</u>

In the attempt to have K.C.'s claim dismissed at summary judgment, Good Sam submitted evidence in the form of (1) an interrogatory response authored by K.C. dated April 28, 2015 and (2) deposition excepts of K.C.'s testimony dated August 12, 2014.<sup>15</sup> In those select pieces of evidence, K.C. admits that the childhood sexual abuse has caused her substantial injury.<sup>16</sup> K.C. even acknowledges that as of the moment of making those assertions on April 28, 2015 and August 12, 2014, she recognized some connection and understanding of some injuries to the childhood sexual abuse.<sup>17</sup> As noted in K.C.'s declaration, these connections and understandings are the product of consultations with health care professionals that occurred between 2012 and 2014:

It is my understanding that the defense is attempting to have my case dismissed premised upon statements that I have made during the course of this litigation. Specifically, the defense is relying upon statements such those signed by me on April 28, 2015 indicating "Everyday that passes I feel like the impact of the abuse increases. I know that I have been traumatized." It is my understanding that the defense is also relying upon statements that I made when I

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> CP 1366

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Id.

was deposed on August 12, 2014 indicating that my injuries include "coping with life every single day. I mean, I'm a wreck. I just – I'm just a wreck. I just have a hard time coping with life, period. That's why I'm on medication." And the defense is also relying upon other deposition statements indicating that I have troubles in my marital relationship and that the symptoms of my PTSD have been impacting me my entire life for a long time.<sup>18</sup>

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